Assignments of Error 

1. The trial Court erred in determining the petitioners' pre-suit screening certificate of merit failed 

to meet the requirements of West Virginia Code § 55-7B-7(a)(6), insofar as the petitioner's expert 

witness is engaged and qualified in the medical field of interventional cardiology, which the 

practitioner has experience and/or training in diagnosing or treating injuries or conditions similar 

to those of the patient. 

2. The trial Court erred in its failure to apply a "clearly frivolous" standard of proof to alleged 

deficiencies in petitioners' pre-suit screening certificate of merit. Rather, the Court substituted its 

judgment for that of the trier of fact by conducting a summary proceeding, testing the legal and 

factual sufficiency of the petitioners' medical negligence claims without first permitting the 

petitioners to conduct discovery, disclose trial experts, etc. 

3. The trial Court erred insofar as it summarily dismissed the petitioners' allegations of res ipsa 

loquitor without permitting the parties to engage in discovery and substituted its judgment for the 

judgment of the trier of fact. 
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Statement of Case 

On April 19, 2018, Petitioner Rita Tanner ("Tanner") was admitted to West Virginia 

University Ruby Memorial Hospital for a surgical procedure to be performed by the Respondent 

. Dr. Bryan Raybuck ("Raybuck"). The surgical procedure is known as a watchman left atrial 

appendage closure ("watchman laac") and involves the placement of a small implant device in the 

left atrial appendage of the heart to prevent blood clots from forming. During the procedure the 

watchman device became :free-floating inside Tanner's heart, embolizing in her left ventricle and 

causing her to go into cardiac arrest. Tanner coded and received chest compressions, followed by 

an and an emergency open heart surgery to retrieve the watchman device. 

Tanner provided Raybuck a notice of claim pursuant to the medical professional liability 

act, provided the screening certificate of merit of Tanner's expert interventional cardiologist, Dr. 

Emily Hayek, and instituted a medical professional liability act cause of action against Raybuck. 

After no discovery, in its Order dated December 15, 2020, the circuit ,court granted Raybuck's 

motion to dismiss finding that Tanner did not produce a valid screening certificate of merit prior 

to the running of the statute of limitations, and finding that the tolling provisions of West Virginia 

Code §55-7B-6(9)(1) do not save petitioners' Complaint due to the failure to provide a rule

compliant screening certificate of merit within time period, and dismissed the case with prejudice. 

On appeal, Tanner asserts that the circuit court erred in determining that Dr. Hayek's screening 

certificate of merit was invalid, should have.permitted the parties to engage in discovery, and 

improperly dismissed the case with prejudice. 
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Summary of Argument 

The circuit court dismissed Petitioner's case with prejudice following Respondent's Rule 

12(b)(l) and 12(b )(6) motion, finding that the Petitioners did not provide a screening certificate of 

merit that complies with the threshold requirements of West Virginia Code, § 55-7B-6(b) and § 

55-7B-7(a)(6). The circuit court further found that it did not have subject matter jurisdiction to 

adjudicate the matter, and dismissed the case for failure to state a claim. 

Petitioners assert that Dr. Hayek's screening certificate of merit complied with the 

requirements of West Virginia Code,§ 55-7B-6(b) and§ 55-7B-7(a)(6), in that Dr. Hayek, an 

interventional cardiologist, practices in the same specialty as the Respondent, Dr. Raybuck, also 

an interventional cardiologist. Although he is a heart surgeon, Dr. Hayek does not perform the 

watchman laac procedures, he is the president, founder, and medical director of a heart care 

medical facility, actively performs cardiac surgical procedures, and is intimately familiar with the 

standard of care for an interventional cardiologist. Dr. Hayek meets the requisite criteria of§ 55-

7B-7(a)(6), which states: "the expert witness is engaged or qualified in a medical field in which 

the practitioner has experience and/or training in diagnosing or treating injuries or conditions 

similar to those of the patient." 

Further, Dr. Hayek's screening certificate of merit contains opinions-that Respondent 

deviated from the standard of care and caused harm to the Petitioner prior to the surgical procedure. 

This includes deviations of the standard of care that apply to all physicians who specialize in 

interventional cardiology. The circuit court should have permitted the parties to conduct discovery 

and disclosed final expert witnesses, rather than dismiss Petitioners' Complaint, with prejudice. 

The circuit court failed to apply the 12(b)(6) standard and failed to accept the Petitioners' 
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allegations in their Complaint as true, view all facts in the light most favorable to, and drawing all 

reasonable inferences in favor of the Petitioners. 

Finally, the circuit court failed to apply the requisite clearly frivolous standard for cases 

filed pursuant to the medical professional liability act ("MPLA") where deficiencies in the 

screening certificate of merit are alleged. Had the Court applied the correct standard, it would have 

determined that the Respondent could not have met his burden of proving that the Petitioner's 

cause of action was clearly frivolous. 
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Statement Regarding Oral Argument and Decision 

The decisional process would be significantly aided by oral argument insofar as all of the 

parties have not waived oral argument, the appeal is not frivolous. The case should be set for a 

Rule 19 argument because it involves assignments of error in the application of settled law. 



Argument 

I. 

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL IDSTORY 

Petitioner Rita Tanner was admitted to West Virginia University Hospital's Ruby 

Memorial Hospital on April 19, 2018, under the care of her treating physician, Respondent, Dr. 

Bryan Raybuck, for the purposes of a cardiac surgical procedure known as Watchman Left Atrial 

Appendage Closure Device ("Watchman LAAC") manufactured by Boston Scientific. Appendix. 

The watchman LAAC is an implant device which is placed in the left atrial appendage of the heart, 

the part of the heart most susceptible for the formation of a blood clot. The watchman LAAC is 

implanted to greatly reduce a stroke risk in a patient and is most commonly implanted in older 

adults who cannot take oral anticoagulants (blood thinners) due to their susceptibility to a fall, 

which could result in an internal bleed. The procedure is performed by running a catheter from the 

femoral artery in the groin all the way up into the heart. Appendix. Once the catheter reaches the 

left atrial appendage, the physician determines the appropriate placement, and turns the knob at 

the end of the catheter in three, 360-degree rotations before he can press the knob to deploy the 

implant. 

After three failed attempts to place the implant in the left atrial appendage of petitioner's 

heart, the implant was caused to become free-floating in petitioner's heart, ultimately embolizing 

into her left ventricle. Appendix. The left ventricle is the part of the heart responsible for pumping 

blood to tissues all over the entire body. After the implant embolized, it caused petitioner to go 

into the most severe form of cardiac arrest and she coded. Appendix. Chest compressions were 

performed, and a cardiothoracic surgeon was brought into the operating room to perform an 

emergency open heart surgery to remove the device from petitioner's heart. Appendix. Petitioner 
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Rita Tanner survived the surgery, but suffered injuries and damages. Petitioner Dennis Tanner 

suffered the loss of consortium of his wife, Rita Tanner. 

Petitioners contend that Dr. Raybuck released the implant before it was properly placed. 

Petitioners sent their Notice of Claim to Respondent by certified mail on April 17, 2020. 

Appendix. The Notice of Claim, pursuant to the MPLA, stated that petitioners would provide a 

screening certificate of merit within sixty days. [Omitted from Appendix as the notice of claim is 

not in dispute]. 

On May 18, 2020, petitioners filed their Complaint in the Circuit Court of Monongalia 

County. Appendix 13-25. On June 10, 2020, petitioner provided the Screening Certificate of Merit 

of Dr. Emil Hayek, M.D. Appendix 101-102. Respondent was served with the petitioners' 

Complaint on September 17, 2020. Appendix 170. 

Respondent filed a motion to dismiss on October 9, 2020, contending that the petitioners' 

screening certificate of merit of Dr. Emil Hayek, M.D, was legally deficient. Appendix 26-86. 

Petitioners filed their Response in Opposition to the Motion to Dismiss on December 2, 2020. 

Appendix 87-108. Respondent filed a Reply in Support of the Motion to Dismiss on December 3, 

2020. Appendix 109-118. The matter was heard on oral argument before the Hon. Susan Tucker, 

Judge of the Circuit Court of Monongalia County, West Virginia. Appendix 119-143. At the oral 

argument, the Court granted the respondent's Motion to Dismiss, and entered an Order Granting 

Motion to Dismiss of Dr. Bryan Raybuck on December 15, 2020. Appendix 1-12. This appeal 

followed. 

II. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

"' Appellate review of a circuit court's order granting a motion to dismiss a complaint is de 

nova.' Syl. Pt. 2, State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc., 194 W.Va. 770,461 
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S.E.2d 516 (1995)." Syl. Pt. 1, Barber v. Camden Clark Mem'l Hosp. Corp., 240 W. Va. 663, 815 

S.E.2d 474 (2018). See also Syl. Pt. 1, Chrystal R.M v. Charlie A.L., 194 W.Va. 138,459 S.E.2d 

415 (1995) ("Where the issue on an appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law or 

involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a de nova standard of review."). 

"The trial court, in appraising the sufficiency of a complaint on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, 

should not dismiss the complaint unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set 

of facts in support of his claim which would entitle him to relief. Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 

45-46, 78 S.Ct. 99, 2 L.Ed.2d 80 (1957)." Syllabus Point 3, Chapman v. Kane Transfer Co., 160 

W. Va. 530,236 S.E.2d 207 (1977). 

"An interpretation of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure presents a question oflaw 

subject to a de nova review." Syllabus Point 4, Keesecker v. Bird, 200 W. Va. 667,490 S.E.2d 754 

(1997). 

'"When a statute is clear and unambiguous and the legislative intent is plain, the statute 

should not be interpreted by the courts, and in such case it is the duty of the courts not to construe 

but to apply the statute.' Syllabus Point 5, State v. General Daniel Morgan Post No. 548, V.F. W, 

144 W.Va. 137, 107 S.E.2d 353 (1959)." Syllabus Point 5, Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. Morrisey, 236 

W. Va. 615, 760 S.E.2d 863 (2014). 

"Where the language of a statute is clear and without ambiguity the plain meaning is to be 

accepted without resorting to the rules of interpretation." Syllabus Point 2, State v. Elder, 152 W. 

Va. 571, 165 S.E.2d 108 (1968). 
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III. 

DISCUSSION 

A. The trial Court erred in determining the Petitioners' pre-suit screening certificate of 
merit failed to meet the requirements of West Virginia Code§ 55-7B-7(a)(6), insofar 
as the petitioner's expert witness is engaged and qualified in the medical field of 
interventional cardiology, which the practitioner has experience and/or training in 
diagnosing or treating injuries or conditions similar to those of the patient. 

The Petitioners' pre-suit screening certificate of merit of Dr. Emil Hayek ("Dr. Hayek") 

met the requirements of the Medical Professional Liability Act ("MPLA"), as set out in § 55-7B-

7(a)(6) of the West Virginia Code, and because the circuit court improperly concluded that Dr. 

Hayek's screening certificate of merit was invalid, the case should be reversed and remanded on 

this issue. 

1. The MPLA and applicable case law from this Supreme Court of Appeals 
determines that Petitioners' expert Dr. Emil Hayek is qualified to render the 
opinions in his screening certificate of merit to survive a motion to dismiss. 

To determine whether or not Dr. Hayek is qualified under the MPLA to render opinions in 

his screening certificate of merit, the Court must look to the West Virginia Code, § 55-7B-6(b ), 

which states: 

The screening certificate of merit shall be executed under oath by a health 
care provider who: 

( 1) Is qualified as an expe1i under the West Virginia rules of evidence; 

(2) Meets the requirements of §55-7B-7(a)(5) and §55-7B-7(a)(6) of this 
code;and 

(3) Devoted, at the time of medical injmy, 60 percent of his or her 
professional time annually to the active clinical practice in his or her 
medical field or specialty, or to teaching in his or her medical field or 
specialty in an accredited university. 

If the health care provider executing the screening certificate of merit 
meets the qualifications of subdivisions (1 ), (2), and (3) of this subsection, 
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there shall be a presumption that the health care provider is qualified as an 
expert for the purpose of executing a screening certificate of merit. 

The expert shall meet the requirements of 55-7B-7(a)(5) and 55-7B-7(a)(6), which states: 

(5) the expert witness maintains a current license to practice medicine with 
the appropriate licensing authority of any state of the United States: 
Provided, That the expert witness's license has not been revoked or 
suspended in the past year in any state; and (6) the expert witness is 
engaged or qualified in a medical field in which the practitioner has 
experience and/or training in diagnosing or treating injuries or 
conditions similar to those of the patient. [ emphasis added]. 

The MPLA requires that the screening certificate of merit shall be executed under oath by 

a health care provider who (1) is qualified as an expert under the West Virginia Rules of Evidence; 

(2) Meets the requirements of §55-7B-7(a)(5) [current license to practice :medicine in any state 

without the license being suspended or revoked in the past year] and §55-7B-7(a)(6) [engaged or 

qualified in a medical field in which the practitioner has experience and/or training in diagnosing 

or treating injuries or conditions similar to those of the patient]; and (3) at the time of injury 

devoted 60 percent of his professional time to the active clinical practice in his field or specialty. 

If these factors are met, there shall be a rebuttable presumption that the witness is qualified as an 

expert. W. Va. Code § 5 5-7B et. seq. 

Here, Petitioner's expert Dr. Hayek meets the requirements of (1), (2), and (3), above. 

Appendix 87-109. Nevertheless, the circuit court found that the Petitioner's screening certificate 

of merit was invalid based on the fact that Dr. Hayek does not perform watchman implants. The 

Court disregarded §55-7B-7(a)(6), which states plainly that the expert must be " ... engaged or 

qualified in a medical field in which the practitioner has experience and/or training in diagnosing 

or treating injuries or conditions similar to those of the patient." The circuit court misapplied or 

otherwise applied a very narrow interpretation of §55-7B-7(a)(6) without analysis, finding that 

because Dr. Hayek does not perform watchman procedures, he does not meet the criteria of the 
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statute and his screening certificate of merit is invalid. The statute itself establishes no such 

requirement on Dr. Hayek. 

The plain and ordinary meaning of §55-7B-7(a)(6), makes it is clear that Dr. Hayek is 

qualified because he is an interventional cardiologist who actively practices in the field of 

cardiology, where he diagnoses and treats injuries and conditions similar to those of Petitioner. 

W.Va. Code §55-7B-7(a)(6). Dr. Hayek received his medical degree from the elite Johns Hopkins 

University School of Medicine in Baltimore, Maryland. He has extensive professional experience 

including serving as the medical director of the heart and vascular center for Akron General 

Medical Center. Currently he is the president and founder of Western Reserve Heart Care in 

Hudson, Ohio. Dr. Hayek is an Assistant Clinical Professor at Case Western Reserve University 

School of Medicine with extensive expertise in the areas of Coronary Artery Disease (CAD), Heart 

Failure, Heart Valve Disease and Preventive Cardiovascular Medicine. Appendix 105-09 -

Curriculum Vitae of Dr. Emil Hayek. Dr. Hayek is an interventional cardiologist with Board 

Certifications in Internal Medicine, Cardiovascular Disease, Nuclear Cardiology and 

Echocardiography. Id. The medical field of interventional cardiology is the same field in which 

the practitioner, defendant Raybuck is engaged and qualified. Dr. Hayek, as an interventional 

cardiologist, he is a heart surgeon engaged and qualified in the medical field in which Dr. Raybuck 

has experience and trained in diagnosing and treating injuries or conditions similar to those of the 

patient, Petitioner Rita Tanner, namely interventional cardiology. This meets the criteria expressed 

in the plain language of the statute. W.Va. Code §55-7B-7(a)(6). 

Further, Dr. Hayek sees cardiology patients regularly in his clinical practice and makes 

determinations on a case-by-case basis and formulates a plan of care for patients who have cardiac 

related issues. Dr. Hayek manages and treats cardiac patients like the Petitioner on a regular basis, 
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and makes medical decisions and recommendations for his patients which could include 

pres~ription medicines or a number of different surgeries or device implantations. Dr. Hayek does 

not specifically implant the watchman devices in his practice but treats patients and receives 

referrals for patients who have watchman implants or are to have watchman implant procedures 

perfprmed. W.Va. Code §55-7B-7(a)(6) does not disqualify Dr. Hayek nor require Dr. Hayek to 

utilize the precise medical device used by the Respondent (the watchman), only that he be engaged 

in a medical field in which Respondent has experience and/or training in diagnosing or treating 

injuries or conditions similar to those of Petitioner, such that he may render opinions regarding 

the standard of care for conduct within his area of expertise. Dr. Hayek is a qualified expert under 

the West Virginia Rules of Evidence, and meets the requirements of the MPLA. Pursuant to the 

MPLA, there is now a rebuttable presumption that Dr. Hayek is qualified as an expert. W. Va. Code 

§55-7B-7(a)(6). 

A survey of West Virginia law reveals that Dr. Hayek is a competent expert witness. See 

e.g. Walker v. Sharma, 221 W.Va. 559, 655 S.E.2d 775, (2007) (Patient's expert witness was 

sufficiently qualified to testify in medical malpractice action regarding the standard of care for 

performing urethral dilation procedure with particular instrument set used by physician, even 

though expert had used different method to perform such procedure; expert was a board-certified 

urologist who spent more than sixty percent of his professional time in the active clinical area of 

urology, and expert testified he was familiar with the standard of care required by a urologist 

through his training and research in the dilation of urethral strictures using particular instrument 

set.); Mayhorn v. Logan Medical Foundation,, 193 W.Va. 42, 454 S.E.2d 87 (1994)(Physician 

who was board certified in internal medicine, was professor of cardiology at medical school, for 

seven years during training worked full-time in emergency rooms, and continued to see patients in 
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emergency room when called to examine them for cardiology problems was qualified to testify as 

expert witness in medical malpractice action arising out of alleged errors by emergency room 

physician in treatment of patient who complained of chest pains and shortly thereafter died due to 

heart condition.); Fortney v. Al-Hajj, 188 W.Va. 588,425 S.E.2d 264 (1992)(General surgeon was 

qualified to provide expert testimony on issue of standard of care of physician rendering assistance 

to patient suffering from impacted food blockage in emergency room patient's medical malpractice 

action against physician, despite facts that surgeon was not board certified emergency room 

physician and had never practiced emergency room medicine; surgeon was board certified general 

surgeon with over 15 years of experience as chairman of emergency room department, had handled 

several impacted food cases, and had performed several surgeries in emergency room context.). 

The Court has been explicit and holds that a physician's personal use of a specific technique 

or procedure to which he or she offers expert testimony go only to the weight to be attached to 

that testimony and not to its admissibility. Walker v. Sharma, 221 W.Va. 559, 655 S.E.2d 775 

(2007) [emphasis added]. Accordingly, whether or not Dr. Hayek performs watchman implants 

does not disqualify his testimony, and is separate and distinct from the analysis of whether or not 

he is qualified to offer testimony in a given field. Id.

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