STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

I. Statement of Facts. 

This is a medical professional liability cause of action brought under the Medical 

Professional Liability Act ("MPLA"). 1 In 2018, Ms. Rita Tanner ("Ms. Tanner" or "Petitioner") 

was diagnosed with atrial fibrillation, complicated by a left atrial appendage.2 Because of her high 

fall risk, she was unable to be treated with anticoagulants for this condition.3 Ms. Tanner was 

referred to Dr. Bryan Raybuck ("Dr. Raybuck" or "Respondent") for implantation of a Watchman 

Left Atrial Appendage Closure Device ("Watchman device"), as an alternative method to 

anticoagulants to treat her atrial fibrillation. 4 The Watchman device is designed to prevent harmful 

clots that form in the left atrial appendage of the heart from migrating into the blood stream, 

potentially causing a stroke.5 

The Watchman device is manufactured by the medical device company, Boston 

Scientific.6 In order to learn how to implant the Watchman device, a physician must undergo 

specialized in-house training provided by Boston Scientific.7 Additionally, the physician must be 

affiliated with an approved hospital that, in conjunction with the physician, will agree to meet 

1 App. 13 - 25. Ms. Tanner's medical records were attached as exhibits to the Motion to Dismiss 
of Defendant Dr. Bryan Raybuck. See App. 51 - 86. In setting forth this Statement of Facts, Respondent 
is providing only an overview of the medical record necessary to understanding the allegations at issue, 
rather than an exhaustive recitation of the entire course of care. 

2 App. 30, 56 - 57. 

3 Id. 

4 Id. at 68 - 77. 

5 Id. 

6 App. 48, 113. See, e.g., https://www.watchman.com/en-us-hcp/implant-center-locator.html. 

7 Id. 
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specialized criteria in order to even be permitted to offer this service to patients.8 Dr. Raybuck has 

completed this training and has been granted privileges at Ruby Memorial Hospital to perform this 

operation in cooperation with Boston Scientific. 

On April 16, 2018, Ms. Tanner gave her written consent to undergo the procedure.9 

Ms. Tanner presented to Ruby Memorial Hospital on April 19, 2018, for the implantation of the 

Watchman device by Dr. Raybuck. 10 While Dr. Raybuck was positioning the device at the left 

atrial appendage, "the device came free from the delivery cable and embolized into the left 

ventricle." 11 Dr. Raybuck immediately contacted cardiac surgery for a sternotomy and removal of 

the device, which was accomplished without further complication. 12 

II. Procedural History. 

Petitioners served Dr. Raybuck with a notice of claim dated April 17, 2020. 13 The 

notice of claim indicated that Petitioners had not had sufficient time to produce a screening 

certificate of merit at that time but would produce one within sixty (60) days. 14 On May 18, 2020, 

Petitioners filed a complaint in the Circuit Court of Monongalia County without serving Dr. 

Raybuck with a screening certificate of merit. 15 

8 Id. These facts were communicated to Petitioners' counsel in correspondence dated June 22, 
2020. See App. 46 - 86. 

9 App. 79 - 80. One of the risks of the procedure expressly disclosed to Ms. Tanner was "device 
migration." Id. 

10 App. 30. 
11 App. at 85 - 87. 

12 Id. 

13 Supplemental App. 2, ,r 4. 

14 Id. 

15 Id. at ,r 5; see also, Certified Docket for Case No. 20-C-136 at App. 170. Petitioners did not 
serve Dr. Raybuck with a copy of the complaint until September 17, 2020, when his counsel accepted 
service on his behalf. Supplemental App. 2, ,r 5. West Virginia University Board of Governors was never 
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On June 9, 2020, Petitioners' counsel served a screening certificate of merit 

authored by Dr. Emil Hayek on counsel for Respondent. 16 On June 10, 2020, counsel for 

Respondent corresponded with Petitioners' counsel to object to the defective screening certificate 

of merit, pursuant to the instructions of Hinchman v. Gillette. 17 Respondent specifically advised 

Petitioners that the screening certificate of merit authored by Dr. Hayek was legally deficient 

because he did not possess the requisite education, training, or experience in performing the 

implantation of a Watchman device in order to state an opinion on the standard of care. 18 

Counsel for Respondent spoke with Petitioners' counsel at length via telephone on 

June 19, 2020, to expound upon Dr. Hayek's lack of qualifications and the factual inaccuracies of 

certain statements in the screening certificate of merit. 19 This conversation and Respondent's 

objections to Dr. Hayek's qualifications and his factually inaccurate statements were memorialized 

at length in correspondence dated June 22, 2020.20 Respondent objected to the fact that Dr. Hayek 

had never undergone training on how to perform the Watchman operation, was not affiliated with 

a hospital authorized to perform this operation, and had, thus, never performed the operation 

himself. 21 Petitioners have confirmed that "Dr. Hayek does not perform the watchman laac 

procedures ... "22 Despite Respondent's objections, provided to Petitioners in writing consistent 

served with a copy of the complaint, and West Virginia University Hospitals, Inc. was voluntarily dismissed 
pursuant to the Stipulation of Voluntary Dismissal. Id. at footnote 1. 

16 Supplemental App. at 2, ,r 6; see Screening Certificate of Merit at App. 42 - 43. 
17 217 W. Va. 378, 618 S.E.2d 387 (2005); see Supplemental App. at 2, 17; Correspondence dated 

June 10, 2020 at App. 44 - 45. 

1s Id. 

19 App. at 46 - 86. 

20 Id. 

21 Id. 

22 Petitioners' Brief at 8. 
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with the instructions of Hinchman v. Gillette, Petitioners have not produced a screening certificate 

of merit beyond the one authored by Dr. Hayek. 

On October 9, 2020, Respondent filed the Motion to Dismiss of Dr. Bryan B. 

Raybuck. 23 On December 2, 2020, Petitioners filed Plaintiffs' Response in Opposition to 

Defendant Dr. Bryan Raybuck's Motion to Dismiss.24 On December 3, 2020, Respondent filed his 

Reply in Support of Motion to Dismiss of Defendant Dr. Bryan Raybuck.25 These pleadings were 

duly noticed for hearing on December 4, 2020, at which time the Circuit Court heard oral argument 

from counsel for both of the parties.26 

On December 15, 2020, the Circuit Court entered its Order Granting Motion to 

Dismiss of Defendant Dr. Bryan Raybuck. 27 In reaching its decision, the Circuit Court concluded 

that Dr. Hayek did not possess the "experience and/or training in diagnosing or treating injuries or 

conditions similar to those of the patient" as required by West Virginia Code§ 55-7B-7(a)(6).28 

The Circuit Court concluded that Petitioners' complaint was not saved from the requirement of a 

screening certificate of merit under West Virginia Code § 55-7B-6(c) or by characterizing the 

claim as one arising under res ipsa loquitur.29 Applying the clear language of the MPLA and this 

Court's prior jurisprudence, the Circuit Court concluded that Petitioners failed to comply with the 

mandatory requirements of the MPLA prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations, thereby 

23 App. at 26 - 86. 
24 App. at 87 - 108. 
25 App. at 109- 118. 
26 App. at 170; Transcript at App. 119 - 143. 
27 Supplemental App. at 1 - 12. 

2s Id. 

29 Id. 
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depriving the Court of subject matter jurisdiction over their claims. 30 Therefore, the Court 

dismissed Petitioners' complaint with prejudice,31 and this appeal followed. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The Circuit Court correctly applied the clear and unambiguous language of the 

MPLA to find that Petitioners failed to fulfill their obligation to provide a rule-compliant screening 

certificate of merit prior to filing their complaint and prior to the expiration of the statute of 

limitations. Because Petitioners failed to meet the mandatory MPLA pre-suit requirements, the 

Circuit Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over their complaint and appropriately determined 

that it must be dismissed with prejudice. 

Petitioners' first assignment of error fails as a matter of law. Petitioners did not 

serve Dr. Raybuck with a screening certificate of merit prior to initiating this civil action in the 

Circuit Court of Monongalia County. The MPLA clearly states that no person may file a medical 

professional liability action without serving each healthcare provider with a notice of claim and 

screening certificate of merit first. 32 This Court reaffirmed that the requirement of a notice of 

claim and screening certificate of merit are jurisdictional, and that the failure to provide these 

documents prior to suit deprives the trial court of subject matter jurisdiction over any medical 

professional liability claim.33 Thus, on these undisputed facts, the Circuit Court correctly applied 

the law to conclude Petitioners' complaint failed to state a claim upon which relief may be granted. 

30 Id. 

31 Id. 

32 W. Va. Code§ 55-7B-6. 
33 Syl. Pt. 1, State ex rel. PrimeCare Medical of West Virginia, Inc. v. Faircloth, 242 W. Va. 335, 

835 S.E.2d 579 (2019). 
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Petitioners' first assignment of error also fails because the screening certificate of 

merit authored by Dr. Hayek - produced after the complaint was filed - did not meet the 

requirements of the MPLA because Dr. Hayek does not have training or experience in treating 

patients such as Ms. Tanner, who require the implantation of a Watchman device. Dr. Hayek has 

not undergone the necessary training provided by Boston Scientific to learn how to implant the 

Watchman device. He is not affiliated with a hospital which is authorized by Boston Scientific to 

perform the procedure. And, as expressly admitted by Petitioners, Dr. Hayek has never operated 

to implant the Watchman device. 

Petitioners' allegations focus on whether Dr. Raybuck complied with the standard 

of care while operating to implant a Watchman device for Ms. Tanner. Because Dr. Hayek has 

never been trained or authorized by Boston Scientific to perform this operation, the Circuit Court 

correctly exercised its inherent discretion to conclude that he did not meet the qualifications to 

author a screening certificate of merit under West Virginia Code§ 55-7B-7(a)(6). This was not 

an .abuse of the Court's discretion. The statute oflimitations for Petitioners' claim expired- at the 

latest- on August 9, 2020. At the time that the Court heard Respondent's arguments for dismissal, 

Petitioners had not produced a rule-compliant screening certificate of merit, and the Circuit Court 

correctly ruled that Petitioners' claim was both defective under the MPLA and time-barred. 

With their second assignment of error, Petitioners have manufactured a "clearly 

frivolous standard of proof," which does not exist in the MPLA language or this Court's 

jurisprudence, and have argued that the Circuit Court erred by failing to apply this standard to 

judge the sufficiency of their pre-suit pleadings. Stated simply, this standard does not exist and, 

because it does not exist, it was not an error for the Circuit Court to fail to apply it. 
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Moreover, Petitioners' argument fails to acknowledge their own disregard of the 

mandatory requirements of the MPLA. Not only did Petitioners disregard the express language 

requiring a screening certificate of merit prior to the filing of suit, Petitioners made the conscious 

decision to disregard Respondent's Hinchman objections to the screening certificate of merit, 

which were expressed in two separate letters and one phone call. Despite having the opportunity 

to correct their error, Petitioners decided to make a stand on the screening certificate of merit 

authored by Dr. Hayek, who has not actually trained to perform the Watchman operation. 

Petitioners have not demonstrated good faith in fulfilling the requirements of the MPLA, and this 

underscores the appropriateness of the Circuit Court's decision. 

Finally, the Circuit Court correctly concluded that the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur 

did not save Petitioners' claim from their failure to provide a pre-suit screening certificate of merit. 

Dr. Raybuck has steadfastly maintained that the device did not deploy because of negligent 

surgical technique but, rather, due to a defect in the device itself. The Circuit Court correctly 

interpreted Farley v. Meadow to preclude a claim of res ipsa loquitur in a medical professional 

liability action where device failure was an alternative explanation for the alleged injury. Because 

Petitioners' complaint did not state a cognizable theory of liability under res ipsa loquitur, this 

characterization of their claim did not save Petitioners from failing to provide a pre-suit screening 

certificate of merit. 

Petitioners have asserted three assignments of error- all of which are without merit. 

The Circuit Court correctly applied the well-settled law to the allegations of Petitioners' complaint 

to conclude that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction over their claim. Respondent respectfully 

requests that this Court reject Petitioners' misplaced assignments of error in favor of affirming the 

trial court's decision below. 
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STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Oral argument is not necessary in this action where the facts and legal arguments 

are thoroughly presented in the parties' briefs and the record on appeal. The Circuit Court applied 

well-settled law to determine that Petitioners' complaint failed to state a claim upon which relief 

may be granted. There is no novel issue of law to be decided, there was no abuse of discretion, 

and the Circuit Court's opinion should be affirmed. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Respondent does not dispute that a de novo standard of review is to be applied in 

reviewing a trial court order granting a motion to dismiss. 34 However, with respect to the 

qualifications of Dr. Hayek to author a rule-compliant screening certificate of merit, this decision 

must be viewed under an abuse of discretion standard. This Court has made clear, regarding the 

competency of expert witnesses in a professional medical liability action: 

[ w ]hether a witness is qualified to state an opinion is a matter which 
rests within the discretion of the trial court and its ruling on that 
point will not ordinary be disturbed unless it clearly appears that 
its discretion has been abused.35 

The Circuit Court appropriately exercised its discretion and applied the 

unambiguous statutory language and well-settled case law to conclude that Dr. Hayek did not meet 

the minimal qualifications to offer a credible opinion on the operation at issue. The Circuit Court's 

decision does not constitute an abuse of discretion, and Petitioners' appeal should be dismissed in 

favor of affirming the court's decision below. 

34 Sy!. Pt. 2, State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc., 194 W. Va. 77,461 S.E.2d 
516(1995). 

35 Syl. Pt. 3, Fortney v. Al-Hajj, MD., 188 W. Va. 588, 425 S.E.2d 264 (1992) (internal citations 
omitted, emphasis added). 
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ARGUMENT 

I. The Circuit Court correctly concluded that Petitioners failed to provide a rule
compliant screening certificate of merit prior to filing suit and/or the running of the 
statute of limitations, and dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) was both appropriate and 
mandatory. 

Petitioners did not provide Dr. Raybuck with a screening certificate of merit prior 

to filing their complaint in the Circuit Court of Monongalia County.36 Pursuant to this Court's 

decision in State ex rel. PrimeCare Medical of West Virginia, Inc. v. Faircloth, 37 this deliberate 

disregard of the mandatory MPLA requirements deprived the Circuit Court of subject matter 

jurisdiction over Petitioners' cause of action. Even when Petitioners belatedly produced the 

"Certificate of Merit" authored by Dr. Hayek after the filing of their complaint, this document was 

clearly defective, and Petitioners did not rectify this deficiency prior to the expiration of the statute 

of limitations, despite express notice of the deficiencies from Respondent. To date, Petitioners 

have not produced a screening certificate of merit authored by a physician who actually performs 

the complex operation at issue, which requires specialized training provided only by the 

manufacturer of the Watchman implant. Because Petitioners deliberately failed to follow the clear 

language of the MPLA with regard to its pre-suit notice requirements, the Circuit Court properly 

dismissed their complaint under Rule 12(b )( 6) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure for 

failure to state a claim upon which relief may be granted. 

36 Supplemental App. at 2, ,r 5; Certified Docket for Case No. 20-C-136 at App. 170. 
37 242 W. Va. 335,835 S.E.2d 579 (2019). 
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a. Petitioners did not provide Dr. Raybuck with a screening certificate of merit 
prior to filing their complaint, and the Circuit Court correctly determined that 
it lacked subject matter jurisdiction over their claim. 

Petitioners provided Dr. Raybuck with a notice of claim on April 17, 2020, which 

did not include a screening certificate of merit.38 Petitioners filed their complaint in the Circuit 

Court of Monongalia County on May 18, 2020.=: It is undisputed that Petitioners did not provide 

any screening certificate of merit to Dr. Raybuck prior to the filing of their complaint. 

In State ex rel. PrimeCare Medical of West Virginia, Inc. v. Faircloth, this Court

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